**S215990**

10A

**IN THE  
SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA**

MILTON HOWARD GAINES,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE  
INSURANCE COMPANY et al.

Defendants and Respondents.

ner,

SUPREME COURT  
**FILED**

JAN 22 2014

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

GRC  
8.25(b)

AFTER A DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL  
SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT  
CASE NO. B244961

**PETITION FOR REVIEW**

**IVIE, McNEILL & WYATT**

W. Keith Wyatt, Esq.\* (Bar No. 80859)

wkwyatt@imwlaw.com

Antonio K. Kizzie, Esq. (Bar No. 279719)

AKizzie@imwlaw.com

444 South Flower Street, Suite 1800

Los Angeles, CA 90071

Telephone: (213) 489-0028

Facsimile: (213) 489-0552

**ISSUE PRESENTED**

**AS STATED DOES THE CURRENT "ABUSE OF DISCRETION" STANDARD MAKE IT VIRTUALLY IMPOSSIBLE FOR AN APPELLATE COURT TO REVERSE A TRIAL COURT'S DISMISSAL OF A CASE PURSUANT TO CCP § 583.310 THAT WAS TOO IMPRACTICABLE TO BE BROUGHT TO TRIAL DESPITE REASONABLE DILIGENCE AND DESERVED TO PROCEED TO TRIAL ON THE MERITS IN CONFORMITY WITH THE SPIRIT OF THE LAW EXPRESSED IN CCP § 583.130 TO ENSURE THAT THE ENDS OF SUBSTANTIAL JUSTICE WOULD NOT BE DEFEATED?**



## **INTRODUCTION : WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED**

The facts of this paradigm elder abuse/equity fraud/mortgage crises case probes a matter of statewide importance: whether or not the “abuse of discretion” standard is too amorphous and fatal to be useful as a guide in determining if a trial judge abused his/her discretion in the dismissal of a factually complicated case that was objectively too impracticable to be brought to trial despite counsel’s reasonable diligence?

The facts underlying the grant of Respondents’ motion to dismiss for lack of prosecution are not in dispute as much as the usefulness of the amorphous and frequently misunderstood “abuse of discretion” standard by which the Appellate Court affirmed the trial court’s ruling against the Appellant’s contention it was impracticable to bring the matter to trial.

This case was one of thousands of lawsuits that grew out of the mortgage industry meltdown. An elderly couple, Milton and Fannie Marie Gaines owned a property in Los Angeles (“Property”) that, prior to February 2006, was encumbered by a first deed of trust loan of \$554,000. *Gaines v. Fidelity National Title Insurance Company* (2013) 222 Cal.App.4th 25, 31 [165 Cal.Rptr.3d 544, 550]. The loan was held by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”). The Gaineses had over \$500,000 in equity in the Property. Despite having substantial equity in their house, by February 2006,

they had fallen two months behind in payments on the Countrywide loan. Id. They received a notice of default and acceleration from Countrywide warning of foreclosure proceedings if they did not cure the default. Id. at 54.

In March 2006, the plaintiffs were approached by an employee of their lender with an unsolicited offer to refinance the mortgage based on the lender's "preapproval," which turns out to be false. Id. Subsequently, a "bait and switch" occurred wherein the plaintiffs were sent to the employee's fiancé, who offered to help with the refinance by buying the house with a supposed offer to include lease-back and repurchase options which are not present in the final documentation. Id. The fiancé pulled out approximately \$90,000 in cash from the deal with the aid of the escrow/title insurance company without plaintiffs' approval. Id.

Afterwards, the fiancé refinanced the property and obtained another \$150,000, which totals a \$240,000 fee for the fiancé's "services." Id. The loan then went into default because the fiancé did not pay "his" mortgage, which required the plaintiffs to pay an additional \$25,000-\$30,000 to avoid foreclosure. Id. Thus ensued litigation comprising numerous sideways and factually complicated title transfers and re-transfers between individual and entity clients including Aurora Loan Services, LLC and Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. Id. The litigation was so complicated that Aurora Loan, LLC

inaccurately and repeatedly represented they held an interest in the property. However, as the plaintiffs announced ready for trial after years of litigation and four (4) amended complaints, Aurora Loan, LLC corrected the misrepresentation and indicated that Lehman Brothers Holdings, Inc. in fact held title to the property. Id.; [I,AA155-157]

The elderly plaintiffs spent their last years in the midst of a lawsuit wherein both died during its pendency. [I,AA001-057] The Gaineses lost the property through broken promises and unconscionably complicated transactions that robbed this elderly couple of their equity and home. Their son, Milton Gaines, Jr. assumed the role of plaintiff and is continuing the fight regain record title to the subject property away from major financial institutions.

It was due to the extremely complicated factual circumstances that Appellants' indicated that the matter was objectively too "impracticable" to be brought to trial when Respondents moved for dismissal under the five-year statute of CCP 583.310 and 583.360. [II,AA226-399] Notwithstanding Appellants' contentions, the trial court sustained the Respondents' motion for dismissal on procedural grounds. In review, the Appellate Court applied the "abuse of discretion" standard to whether the trial court erred in not finding

that the matter was too “impracticable” to be brought to trial despite counsel’s reasonable diligence.

The Appellate Court affirmed the ruling of the trial court, but not without explaining in-depth the state wide problems as to the impracticable nature of the “abuse of discretion standard,” and how it was incompatible with the interests of justice. Id. at 49. The dissenting Appellate Court opinion by Justice J. Rubin explicitly articulated the recurring and unjust problems that the “abuse of discretion” standard is causing as evidenced in this case where the equities and interests of justice scream for the matter to be tried on its merits. Id. The most common test for determining whether discretion has been abused asks whether the trial court’s ruling was “arbitrary, capricious or whimsical.” Id. However, Justice J. Rubin indicated that none of these formulations is particularly helpful because the current “abuse of discretion” standard does not realistically describe judicial decision making and renders appellate review asinine as a trial court decision “exceeding all bounds of reason” is unlikely to ever be found no matter how objectively factually complicated/impracticable a case may be. Id.

Supreme Court review is needed to resolve the statewide conflicts and lack of conformity that the “abuse of discretion” standard is causing between the appellate and trial courts. The language and understanding of the “abuse

of discretion” standard renders finding any trial court ruling to be “whimsical and beyond all bounds of reason” as unlikely to ever realistically happen. Due to the conflicting understandings of the “abuse of discretion” standard in this State’s trial and appellate courts, the standard is fundamentally incompatible as a rubric for guidance with the interests of justice in hearing a case on its merits and not granting unbridled discretion to trial court judges.

## **BACKGROUND**

### **A. THE ELDERLY PLAINTIFFS**

An elderly couple, Milton and Fannie Marie Gaines owned a property in Los Angeles that, prior to February 2006, was encumbered by a first deed of trust loan of \$554,000. The loan was held by Countrywide Home Loans, Inc. (“Countrywide”). *Id.* at 54. The Gaineses had over \$500,000 in equity in the Property. *Id.* By February 2006, they had fallen two months behind in payments on the Countrywide loan. *Id.*; [I, AA1-149]. They received a notice of default and acceleration from Countrywide warning of foreclosure proceedings if they did not cure the default. [I,AA104,105].

### **B. THE TORNBERG DEFENDANTS**

The entire lawsuit started with an unsolicited phone call from a Countrywide employee, A.J. Roop, who told the Gaineses that Countrywide

had approved them for a refinance loan, which was false. Id. In March 2006, A.J. Roop contacted the Gaineses and identified herself as a Countrywide employee. Id. Ms. Roop informed the Gaineses they had been preapproved for a refinance loan. Id. [I,AA066,067]. As of June 2006, the property was appraised at \$1 million. [I,AA067-071]. In June or July 2006, Roop told the Gaineses that Countrywide had not approved their loan refinance application. [I,AA068]. Roop subsequently contacted the Gaineses and suggested her fiancé, Joshua Tornberg, could assist them in obtaining a refinance loan. Roop said Tornberg worked with Craig Johnson and Ray Management and claimed to assist people who had difficulty obtaining financing. [I,AA068,069].

In mid-July 2006, the Tornberg defendants informed the Gaineses they could not obtain a refinance loan. Id. The Tornberg defendants proposed they would purchase the Property for \$950,000, including \$100,000 to be used for repairs they would oversee. Id. The Tornberg defendants also promised to lease the Property back to the Gaineses. Id. They represented the lease would give the Gaineses an option to re-purchase the Property. Id. [I,AA068-072].

### **C. SERIES OF TRANSACTIONS**

The Gaineses agreed to sell the Property to the Tornberg defendants. An escrow was opened at Fidelity to complete the transaction. Id. In early August

2006, the Gaineses executed a warranty deed to transfer title of the Property to Tornberg. Id. The complaint alleged, however, that the deed recorded was an altered warranty deed, recorded without the Gaineses' permission. Id. The complaint also alleged Fidelity National Title Insurance Company (Fidelity), and its employee, Bobbie Jo Rybicki (collectively the Fidelity defendants), improperly released \$90,000 to the Tornberg defendants from the escrow account. Id. [I,AA072-077;091-098;131-139]. Further, according to the complaint, after the close of escrow, the Tornberg defendants presented the Gaineses with a revised month-to-month lease that did not include a purchase option. Milton Gaines died in late August 2006. Id. [I,AA074,075].

To purchase the Property, Tornberg took out an \$855,000 loan secured by the Property. Tornberg subsequently refinanced the loan with a new \$865,000 loan (the Tornberg loan), and procured an additional \$150,000 loan secured by a deed of trust encumbering the Property. By June 2007, Tornberg owed \$25,000 in delinquent payments for at least one of the loans secured by the Property. Id. [II,AA372-379]. Fannie Marie Gaines paid the delinquent amount to avoid foreclosure proceedings. Id. It could be inferred that Tornberg, having made \$240,000, would walk away with the Gaineses left to lose their home. Id.

## PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### D. THE TRIAL COURT'S DECISION TO DISMISS

On November 13, 2006, Fannie Marie Gaines (plaintiff) filed a complaint against the Tornberg defendants, Roop, Countrywide, and the Fidelity defendants. The complaint also included fictitiously named Doe defendants 1 to 30. Plaintiff asserted claims for fraud, violation of Civil Code home equity sales contract requirements, intentional infliction of emotional distress, and negligence. [I,AA1-57]. After the complaint was filed, this case proceeded on a complicated road of transfers, retransfers, and representations of ownership, which made the bringing of the case to trial not impossible but objectively impracticable. Key events and obstacles completely outside of plaintiff's control objectively prevented plaintiff, who announced ready for trial at least twice during litigation, from bringing the matter to trial within the five-year timeframe under section 583.340 despite plaintiff's "reasonable diligence." *Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724, 731.

- First, the complaint had to be amended four times during the first 14 months of the litigation as is common in many of the post "financial meltdown" cases. *Gaines, supra*, at 53.



• Second, the “reasonable diligence” of plaintiff despite endless setbacks was evidenced because other defendants named in amended complaints including Greenpoint Mortgage Funding, Inc., United Mortgage Loan & Investment, LLC and UM Acquisitions, LLC, Defendants Countrywide, United Mortgage Loan & Investment, LLC and UM Acquisitions, LLC, settled with plaintiff. [II,AA414-427;III, AA454-460;718] Greenpoint Mortgage Funding, Inc. was dismissed. [III,AA719-724]. Id.

•Third, entity defendants made incorrect representations as to their ownership interest in the properties which caused significant delays in bringing the matter to trial. In January 2008, plaintiffs added Aurora, which admitted in its January 2009 answer that it held an \$865,000 interest in the property. In November 2009, Aurora asserted in a motion to amend its answer that it had mistakenly asserted an ownership interest in its original answer when in fact Lehman Brothers was the owner of the loan encumbering the property. [II,AA236-243;292-301;343-355]. Lehman Brothers had filed for bankruptcy in 2008. Not until after December 2010 did Aurora provide any proof to plaintiff or the court that Lehman Brothers had succeeded to its interest. Proof of ownership came in an “Assignment of Deed of Trust and Request for Special Notice” which indicated that Lehman Brothers had been assigned Aurora’s interest. Because of the pending bankruptcy and the need to obtain

relief from the litigation stay against Lehman Brothers, the latter was not named in an amended complaint until November 2011. [II,AA 236-243; 354-355; 414-427]. Id.

- Fourth, Ms. Fannie Marie Gaines passed away on November 29, 2009. Her husband, Milton Gaines, had died in August 2006, shortly after the Gaineses had agreed to sell the Property to the Tornberg defendants and about 10 weeks before the action was filed. On January 28, 2010, Gaines's son was substituted in as a party plaintiff, an amended complaint was filed, and defendants were given 30 days to file answers. [II,AA325-342]. Id.

- Fifth, the trial court refused to bifurcate the trials as recommended by plaintiff. The trial court expressed concern that the delays in bringing Lehman Brothers into the action were becoming excessive. According to Aurora, Lehman Brothers owned the \$865,000 loan and deed of trust, and was the subject of the lion's share of plaintiffs' claims and, thereby, became an indispensable party. At an August 20, 2010 status conference, counsel for plaintiff suggested that the solution to the Lehman Brothers situation would be to bifurcate the trial and proceed first against all the non-Lehman Brothers defendants. The court replied, "don't hold your breath on that," in apparent reference to the unlikelihood the court would agree to bifurcation. The trial court further explained: "So the point of it is, I'm not going to look with a

great deal of favor on bifurcating things.” The delays associated with Lehman Brothers were caused by Aurora’s misrepresentations and inability to provide any proof it had transferred its interest to Lehman Brothers. Without such evidence plaintiffs’ ability to go after Lehman Brothers was significantly compromised and made it impracticable to go to trial. [II,AA411-413;IV,AA725-730]. Id.

- Sixth, further delays in proceeding against Lehman Brothers were caused by financial difficulties plaintiff apparently encountered in retaining counsel in New York where the bankruptcy proceedings were pending. In June 2011, New York counsel commenced work on the motion to vacate the bankruptcy stay, and the stay was lifted in October 2011. [II,AA359-364]. Id.

- Seventh, four different trial judges spent considerable time on this case. The complaint was filed on November 13, 2006. The first trial judge initially heard the case on February 20, 2007. The case was transferred to the second judge in approximately April of 2007. The next reassignment was on July 16, 2008. That judge had the case for four years until April 24, 2012 (well beyond the five year anniversary of the filing of the complaint). The judge who dismissed the action received the case on May 2, 2012, and dismissed the case on August 24, 2012. [II,AA226-431]. Id.

These facts show that the litigation course of this controversy was so complicated that it caused substantial delay, often through no fault of plaintiffs. In May 2012, the Fidelity defendants moved to dismiss plaintiff's complaint under Code of Civil Procedure sections 583.310 and 583.360. [AAA, 995-1012] The Fidelity defendants argued neither the bankruptcy stay nor Fannie Marie Gaines's death tolled the five-year period to extend it beyond November 2011.

In opposition to the motion, plaintiff argued the action was still within time-frame allotted under section 583.310 or, in the alternative, it was objectively impracticable bring the action to trial. The action was stayed for seven months and three days in 2008 when the court granted the parties' application for a 120-day stay in April 2008, and the court did not lift the stay until November 2008. [II,AA414-427]. Plaintiff further argued the two-month period between Fannie Marie Gaines's death and the substitution of a successor should be excluded from the five-year period. Plaintiff additionally contended the five-year period was tolled for the period in which plaintiff sought relief from the bankruptcy stay between June and October 2011, because it was impossible, impracticable, or futile to bring the action to trial while the bankruptcy stay was in effect as to Lehman.

Aurora's inaccurate admission in its January 2009 answer that it had the right to assert an ownership interest in the Gaineses' property was not corrected by Aurora until nearly eleven (11) months later. It would be another nine (9) months after that until Aurora supplied documentary proof of its claim. Further, plaintiff's counsel declared six months to secure New York counsel took. Plaintiff's counsel declared plaintiff had paid significant sums to stop foreclosure sales on the property, and there had been "extensive litigation" of the matter. Plaintiff noted the possibility of severing defendants from the action was not determinative, and the court had indicated it would not sever the action to allow trial to proceed against the Fidelity defendants first. [II,AA266-399].

In reply, the Fidelity defendants argued the 2008 mediation stay did not qualify as a stay under section 583.340, subdivision (b). They also asserted the time it took for plaintiff to secure relief from the bankruptcy stay and add Lehman as a defendant should not be excluded from the five-year period. The trial court agreed with plaintiff's assessment that two months should be excluded from the five-year period due to Fannie Marie Gaines's death and the need to substitute a successor in interest as plaintiff. The court also accepted plaintiff's argument regarding the Lehman bankruptcy and excluded a 125-day

period from the time plaintiff secured bankruptcy counsel, to the time she secured relief from the bankruptcy stay.

However, the court determined the stay of the action between April 2008 and November 2008 was a partial stay and not a stay within the meaning of section 583.340, subdivision (b). The trial court did not exclude any of the Aurora/Lehman Brothers' or partial-stay time. The court further determined plaintiff had not demonstrated she was diligent in prosecuting the action during the stay, or that the stay made it impossible, impractical, or futile to bring the action to trial. With the permitted exclusions, the court concluded plaintiff should have commenced trial by May 16, 2012, to fall within the five-year period. The scheduled trial date exceeded the adjusted 5-year-period by only 82 days.

On August 20, 2012, plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration. There was a stay and two other events that significantly interfered with plaintiffs' ability to get to trial. The stay was the partial stay the parties had agreed to attempt settlement. That stay was 120 days (the time the parties had agreed to stay) or 217 days (the time before the trial court actually lifted the stay). On August 24, 2012, the trial court entered a judgment of dismissal. On September 6, 2012, Aurora and Lehman served a notice of entry of judgment. [IV,AA725-730] On October 22, 2012, the trial court denied the motion for

reconsideration. [III,AA432-724]. Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal on November 5, 2012. [AAA, 1019-1021].

**E. THE COURT OF APPEALS DECISION (GAINES v. FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY (2013) 222 CAL.APP.4<sup>TH</sup> 25**

On December 11, 2013, the Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's decision in a published opinion. The Court of Appeals applied the abuse of discretion standard currently used to determine if the trial court's ruling to dismiss a case that an appellant contended was "impracticable" to be brought to trial should be reversed. *Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.* (2011) 51 Cal.4th 717, 724.

Despite affirming the trial court's ruling, the Appellate Court's dissenting opinion indicated that the facts showed that the plaintiffs prosecuted this case with reasonable diligence and the matter was objectively too impracticable to be brought to trial. If the trial court had exercised its discretion "in conformity with the spirit of the law" and not to "defeat the ends of substantial justice" and excluded the 120 days of the parties' stipulated stay or the 217 days of actual stay or any significant part of the Aurora/Lehman Brothers time, the five years would not have elapsed. *Gaines, supra*, at 57; *People v. Jacobs* (2007) 156 Cal.App.4th 728, 740. The lack of an exercise of discretion based upon relevant factors in the individual case constitutes an

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