### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT 

FEB 14 2014

FANNIE MARIE GAINES, Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

JOSHUA TORNBERG, et. al. Defendants/Respondents.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC361768 Hon. Rolf M. Treu

### FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY AND **BOBBIE JO RYBICKI'S** RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

FIDELITY NATIONAL LAW GROUP KEVIN R. BROERSMA (SBN #252748) 915 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 2100 Los Angeles, CA 90017 Telephone: (213) 438-7207

Facsimile: (213) 438-4417

Email: Kevin.Broersma@FNF.com

Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents, Fidelity National Title Insurance Company and Bobbie Jo Rybicki

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

### FANNIE MARIE GAINES, Plaintiff/Appellant

v.

### JOSHUA TORNBERG, et. al. Defendants/Respondents.

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC361768 Hon. Rolf M. Treu

# FIDELITY NATIONAL TITLE INSURANCE COMPANY AND BOBBIE JO RYBICKI'S RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

FIDELITY NATIONAL LAW GROUP KEVIN R. BROERSMA (SBN #252748) 915 Wilshire Blvd., Suite 2100 Los Angeles, CA 90017 Telephone: (213) 438-7207

Facsimile: (213) 438-4417

Email: Kevin.Broersma@FNF.com

Attorneys for Defendants/Respondents, Fidelity National Title Insurance Company and Bobbie Jo Rybicki

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

I.	INTI	RODUCTION 1		
II.	STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY 4			
	A.	FACTS UNDERLYING THE LITIGATION4		
	В.	PROCEDURAL FACTS UNDERLYING THE CURRENT APPEAL5		
III.	LEG	GAL DISCUSSION		
	A.	THIS APPEAL DOES NOT MEET THE STANDARDS UNDER RULE OF COURT 8.500(B)7		
	В.	THE POLICY OF TRYING CASES ON THE MERITS DOES NOT TRUMP THE COUNTERVAILING POLICY TO DILIGENTLY PROSECUTE CASES 9		
	C.	CALIFORNIA APPELLATE COURTS ACKNOWLEDGE THAT THE ABUSE OF DISCRETION STANDARD IS NOT UNIFORM – THE NECESSITY FOR DEFERENCE TO THE TRIAL COURT MAKES UNIFORMITY IMPOSSIBLE AND IMPRACTICABLE		
	D.	<ol> <li>THE DECISION IN GAINES v. FIDELITY</li></ol>		
		2. Judge Rubin's Dissent – Judge Rubin Did Not Decide Differently From the Majority Because He Imposed a More Relaxed or Different Form of the Abuse of Discretion Standard – He Decided Differently Because he Disagreed with the Conclusion Drawn by the Majority, Using the Same Facts and Standard		

	<b>E.</b>	PETITIONER'S ARGUMENT THAT THE ABUSE OF
		DISCRETION STANDARD RENDERS ALMOST
		EVERY DISMISSAL ON PROCEDURAL GROUNDS
		COMPLETELY IMMUNE FROM APPELLATE
		REVIEW IS UNDERMINED BY THE FACT THAT
		PETITIONER'S APPEAL WAS SUCCESSFUL23
		1. Contrary to Petitioner's Assertions, the Court of
		Appeal Did Not Affirm the Trial Court's Ruling. 24
	F.	WITH DUE RESPECT TO JUDGE RUBIN, IN
		DISSENT, HE MAKES THE SAME ERROR AS THE
		PETITIONER IN APPLYING THE IMPOSSIBLE,
		IMPRACTICABLE AND/OR FUTILE STANDARD –
		MERE CIRCUMSTANCES OF IMPRACTICABILITY
		WITHOUT REFERENCE TO A CAUSAL RELATION
		TO THE DELAY ARE NOT ENOUGH25
IV.	CON	NCLUSION28
IV. CONCLUSION		CLUSIOI

### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Cases
Bruns v. E-Commerce Exchange, Inc.
51 Cal.4 <sup>th</sup> 717 (2011)14, 19
31 Out. 7 17 (2011)
Called and Tamein the Foo Cases
Cellphone Termination Fee Cases
180 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1110 (2009)
Ellis v. Toshiba America Information Systems, Inc.
218 Cal.App. 4 <sup>th</sup> 853 (2013)12
216 Cal.App. 4 633 (2013)12
Gaines v. Fidelity National Title Ins. Co.
222 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 25 (2013)
London v. Campagay Candagag
Jordan v. Superstar Sandcars
182 Cal.App.4th 1416 (2010)
Quiroz v. Seventh Ave. Center
140 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 1256 (2006)
140 Cal.App.4 1230 (2000)10
State ex rel. Metz v. CCC Information Services, Inc.
149 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 402 (2007)9
Tamburina v. Combined Ins. Co. of America
147 Cal.App.4 <sup>th</sup> 323 (2007)
14/ Cal.App.4 <sup></sup> 323 (2007)14, 15
Statutes
California Code of Civil Procedure § 583.310
Caujornia Code of Civil Frocedure § 383.310, 10
California Rule of Court, § 8.500(b)

Defendants/Respondents, Fidelity National Title Insurance Company ("Fidelity") and Bobby Jo Rybicki ("Rybicki") (hereafter collectively referred to as "Respondents") hereby submit this Answer to in response to Petitioner/Appellant, Fannie Marie Gaines' ("Petitioner") Petition to the California Supreme Court.

### I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

It is often said that something is not a problem unless there is a solution for it. In a forced attempt to fit the underlying Petition within the standard allowed by *California Rule of Court*, § 8.500(b), the Petitioner disingenuously argues that this appeal is about the lack of uniformity with regard to the abuse of discretion standard, and the purportedly resulting havoc in California from the lack of a workable standard. After reading the Petition, however, it is plain enough to see that the Petitioner's argument is a pretext. Clearly, what begins as a claim that the abuse of discretion standard lacks uniformity in the California Courts of Appeal, turns into an overarching indictment of the entire abuse of discretion standard. Then, the Petition turns into a complete re-argument of the underlying appeal based upon the dissent of Judge Rubin.

Without posing a solution to the purported "problem," Petitioner latches on to comments made by the dissenting Justice Rubin, and argues by implication that the Majority (Justice Grimes and Bigelow) was somehow forced into its decision by virtue of an unworkable and

impossible standard. What the Petitioner fails to acknowledge, however, is the Majority in the underlying Appeal engaged in a thorough analysis of the facts of the case, and, applying the purportedly impossible abuse of discretion standard, came to different conclusions with regard to differently situated defendant/respondents. If the abuse of discretion standard was so unworkable and impossible, it is doubtful that the Majority would be able to reverse the Trial Court. What the Petitioner does in this respect, however, is quite interesting. Throughout the entire Petition, the fact that the underlying Trial Court ruling was reversed with respect to the main defendant, Lehman Brothers Holdings ("Lehman"), is hidden in favor of Petitioner's desire to give this Court the impression that the Majority below, having no choice but to apply the purportedly impossible and unworkable abuse of discretion standard, was forced to decide against Petitioner. Indeed, even if the Petitioner is correct that the abuse of discretion standard is unworkable and impossible, this case is certainly not the vehicle to challenge it.

To be blunt, and with all due respect to Judge Rubin, the dissenting opinion is the exact reason why the abuse of discretion standard is used; part of the abuse of discretion standard is an acknowledgement that the trial court is in a better position to judge underlying facts and circumstances. The dissenting opinion took as true, not just the facts that the Petitioner presented underlying the case, but also the prejudiced

conclusions drawn by the Petitioner. The Petitioner characterized this case as a case of fraud and elder abuse, in which his client was the victim. Believing these opinions to be irrelevant for the purposes of the underlying appeal, the gratuitous comments made by the Petitioner to tug on the heartstrings of the fact finder went un-responded to by the Respondents. Because the Petitioner's recitation of the facts, and unfair characterization of this case as a case of elder abuse seemed to carry weight, it is only fair that the Respondents mention the other side of the story. The reality is that when one looks at the facts underlying this case, it becomes clear that Fannie Marie Gaines was the least victimized person involved.

The Petitioner's characterization of Fidelity's "improper" distribution of \$90,000.00 out of the escrow account was a disputed fact that was left to be determined by the fact-finder. Fidelity was prepared to have the escrow agent testify that Ms. Gaines orally authorized the transfer of the \$90,000.00. Therefore, to the extent that these unchecked and unfair characterizations of the case influenced Judge Rubin's desire to have this case tried on the merits, it is only fair that Respondents highlight the fact that Appellant's characterization is disputed, and in fact, was the issue to be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Although Judge Rubin acknowledges that these facts were alleged and to be decided, in reading the dissent, one cannot help but conclude that Judge Rubin's concern for these alleged facts had an effect on his decision.

decided by the fact finder. Again, Respondent's did not spar with Appellant's characterizations on appeal because such facts were not legally relevant to the merits of the appeal.

### II. STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

### A. FACTS UNDERLYING THE LITIGATION

The Petitioner and her husband applied for a loan in approximately May of 2006, after their previous loan had already gone into default. After a denial from Countrywide, defendant AJ Roop, who worked for Countrywide, informed Gaines that her boyfriend, Josh Tornberg ("Tornberg"), may be able to assist her in finding financing. Tornberg, Johnson and Ray Management agreed to assist Gaines in finding refinancing for her and her husband, but were ultimately unsuccessful due to the fact that Gaines and her husband did not have sufficient income to obtain a loan. Tornberg agreed to purchase the Property from Gaines for \$950,000.00 and was going to lease it back to Gaines so they could stay in the Property. As part of the escrow instructions, the seller was to pay for repairs to bring the Property up to code. According to Gaines, it would cost approximately \$100,000.00 to bring the Property up to code. The final HUD1 and amendments include an allocation of \$90,000.00 to Ray Management for the repairs to the Property, which Plaintiff and her husband agreed to. [1AA, 1-57]

Upon closing, Gaines and her husband received \$280,555.82 in cash

proceeds, along with \$2,500.00 in earnest money that was released prior to closing. \$4,221.65 was used to pay off real estate taxes on the Property in 2005/2006. Most importantly, however, Petitioner's Countrywide loan, which was in default, was paid off with \$567,995.96 from the sale proceeds. After Petitioner and her husband signed the warranty deed transferring title to the Property to Tornberg, Petitioner changed her mind, and refused to allow any of the defendants in the Property to begin repairs. Petitioner sued Fidelity and the escrow agent, Bobby Jo Rybicki for negligence, breach of fiduciary duty, and assisting financial elder abuse, resulting primarily from the allege transfer of the \$90,000.00 in escrow to Ray Management. [1AA, 58-148]

### B. PROCEDURAL FACTS UNDERLYING THE CURRENT APPEAL

Plaintiff filed suit on November 13, 2006, naming both Fidelity and Rybicki in the original complaint. [1AA, 1-57] After approximately one year of litigation, the Petitioner went to court on an ex-parte basis to submit the case to voluntary mediation for 120 days with the consent of the defendants. [2AA, 278-281]

In November of 2008, the parties attended a status conference, and the Trial Court set a trial setting conference for December 11, 2008. [2AA, 303-304] The case proceeded normally until approximately August of 2009 when it was apparently discovered that one of the Defendants,

Aurora, did not hold the underlying beneficial interest in the note and deed of trust with regard to Plaintiff's quiet title claim. [3AA, 9] It was claimed that Lehman was the current beneficial interest holder, and that Lehman needed to be a party to the suit. Trial was originally scheduled for August 24, 2009, but was vacated in order for Petitioner to work with Lehman on obtaining relief from stay.

The trial was continued to January 28, 2010 so the Petitioner could obtain relief from stay from the Lehman Brothers bankruptcy, and add it into the case. From that date forward, the trial date was continued several more times because Petitioner failed to obtain relief from stay with regard to the Lehman bankruptcy. Status conferences regarding Petitioner obtaining relief in the Lehman bankruptcy occurred on November 4, 2009, January 28, 2010, August 20, 2010, November 1, 2010, December 13, 2010, February 25, 2011, and June 20, 2011. [3AA, 646-662] Finally, the Court set an Order to Show Cause re Dismissal for Failure to obtain relief from stay on October 26, 2011, whereat Petitioner informed the Court that relief was recently obtained. The Court then continued the status conference again to allow Petitioner to name Lehman, and a trial date of August 6, 2012 was eventually set. Plaintiff did not bring a motion to set the trial date before the five year statute, nor did she attempt to bifurcate the case against Fidelity. [AAA, 1015-1018]

Respondents, Fidelity and Rybicki, filed a motion to dismiss the case

under § 583.310, based upon the Petitioner's failure to bring the case to trial within five years of the filing date. [1AA, 158-191] The motion was heard on July 25, 2013, and was granted. [2AA, 429-431] The case was dismissed in its entirety, and the Petitioner filed a motion for reconsideration, which was ultimately denied. [4AA, 725-731] Petitioner filed the instant appeal on December 12, 2013, and the Majority of the Court of Appeal (Justice Bigelow and Grimes) reversed the Trial Court's order with respect to Lehman, but upheld the order dismissing the case as to all other defendants, including Fidelity and Rybicki. (*Gaines v. Fidelity National Title Ins. Co.*, 222 Cal.App.4<sup>th</sup> 25 (2013))

### III. <u>LEGAL DISCUSSION</u>

## A. THIS APPEAL DOES NOT MEET THE STANDARDS UNDER RULE OF COURT 8.500(B)

California Rule of Court, Rule 8.500(b) identifies the only grounds upon which this Court may grant review of a Court of Appeal decision.

Those grounds are where: (1) the decisions of several courts of appeal are in conflict, or it is necessary to settle an important question of law; (2) the court of appeal lacked jurisdiction over the case; (3) the court of appeal's decision lacked concurrence of a majority of the judges; or (4) for purposes of transferring the matter to the court of appeal for additional proceedings.

As alluded to already, the Petitioner has made a disingenuous attempt to fit a square peg into a round hole by arguing that this appeal falls

under subdivision (1); namely, that the abuse of discretion standard lacks uniformity. While that is the thesis of the Petition, once one begins to read the Petition further, the true intention of the Petitioner becomes clear: the Petitioner wishes to indict the entire abuse of discretion standard as unworkable and impossible.

There are several problems with the Petitioner's argument. First, and most importantly, it does not fit one of the four grounds for a petition for review to this Court. While the Petitioner begins the Petition with the conclusory claim that the abuse of discretion standard lacks uniformity in California, the substance of the Petition does not support such a claim; it supports a complete and total overhaul of the abuse of discretion standard in general.

Second, even if this Petition were the proper vehicle for such a task, the Petitioner never suggests a probable solution to the purported problem; Petitioner simply complains about the unworkability of the standard itself, but proposes no solution for it. Indeed, if a case exists that exposes the purported unworkability of the abuse of discretion standard, this is not that case. Although the Petitioner purposely hides it from his Petition, it is worth noting that the Petitioner won on appeal. While Trial Court's decision to grant Respondent's motion to dismiss under the five year rule was upheld, it was only upheld with respect to Fidelity and the individual defendants in the action. With regard to the most important defendant,

Lehman, the decision was reversed. So, the Court of Appeal had no problems analyzing the record, imposing the abuse of discretion standard, and even coming to two different conclusions based upon differently situated defendants in the action. Clearly, had the Court of Appeal found the abuse of discretion standard to be unworkable or impossible, it would not have been able to engage in such an analysis and come to differing conclusions.

Finally, as argued in more detail, *infra*, there is nothing in the *Gaines* appellate decision that evidences any kind of burden on the Majority to impose the abuse of discretion standard. To the contrary, in reading the *Gaines* decision, it would be reasonable to conclude that the Majority would have come to the same conclusion (or perhaps one where the tolling the Trial Court *did* allow for would not have been upheld) under a *de novo* standard.

# B. THE POLICY OF TRYING CASES ON THE MERITS DOES NOT TRUMP THE COUNTERVAILING POLICY TO DILIGENTLY PROSECUTE CASES

California courts acknowledge the fact that the potential consequences of statutes of limitation, and the like, are harsh in nature:

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